Chapter 3:  Property Rights & The Statute of Limitations:
Adverse Possession Doctrine

Note: Overview of Adverse Possession & Nature of the Doctrine

Adverse Possession is a doctrine that allows people who use an otherwise unused parcel of land for a sufficient amount of time to become the legal owners of the land regardless of the strength of their claim to the land at the time they took possession of it.  The doctrine obviously is a severe limitation of the owner’s right to exclude third parties; it means that if the right to exclude is not asserted quickly enough, the owner can lose ownership of the land entirely.  Despite its extreme appearance, Adverse Possession has been a part of Anglo-American Property Law for centuries.  As you review the materials in this section, consider the possible rationales for Adverse Possession and whether you think they justify the doctrine in whole or in part.

All American jurisdictions limit the amount of time a person has to bring civil lawsuits for personal injuries, breaches of contract and interference with property rights.  These limits are contained in statutes known as “statutes of limitations.”  Thus, if you are injured in an automobile accident and wish to obtain damages from the other party, you must bring suit within the time specified by the relevant statute of limitations (often two years for tort suits).  



If a person moves onto land you own without your permission and refuses to leave, you would bring an action for “ejectment,” and, if successful, you would obtain a court order ordering the trespasser off your land.  Every state has a statute of limitations for ejectment actions that limits the amount of time you have to bring the lawsuit to clear your land.  In practice, these statutes of limitations only are invoked if the non-owner in possession of your land meets a set of rigorous requirements that have developed mainly through caselaw.  The resulting interaction of the statute of limitations and the court-created requirements constitutes the doctrine of “Adverse Possession.”  If the non-owner (“adverse possessor”) successfully meets the requirements of the doctrine, he or she will become the legal owner of the land in question.



Adverse Possession claims usually arise in one of two different legal contexts.  First, the legal owner of the property might bring an ejectment action to evict the adverse possessor, who then raises the doctrine as a defense to the action (“You do not have the right to eject me because I have adversely possessed the land and am the true owner.”).  Second, people who believe they have met the requirements for adverse possession can bring a lawsuit known as a “Quiet Title” action, in which the court is asked to declare who the legal owner of the land is, thus “quieting” any dispute as to ownership.



The requirements for Adverse Possession vary greatly from state to state. The period of time listed in the various statutes of limitations ranges (at least) from five to thirty years.  In addition, each state has a slightly different list of requirements that a successful adverse possessor must meet.  Moreover, each state has its own cases (and sometimes statutes) interpreting the list of requirements.  This area of law is made even more confusing to grasp because some states use different terms to refer to the same requirement and some states use the same language to refer to different requirements.  An outline describing the typical set of requirements is laid out below.  The names given to the elements are those used most commonly (although not in every jurisdiction). However, even states that use different terminology incorporate into their rules each of the kinds of evidence described as the focus of the elements named below. 
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Note:  Color of Title

A.
Document purporting to give title but giving none


1. Usually defective deed or will


2.  Generally holder has to have good faith belief in validity of document

B.
A Few States (e.g., New Mexico): Required for All Adverse Possession Claims

C.  MOST STATES: 


1.
NOT a required element of adverse possession


2.
Can reduce burden of proof for claiming adverse possession in a variety of ways:



a. Shorter statute of limitations (some states)


b. Less burdensome requirements (some states)



(i) Fl. Statute (and others): easier to show "actual use"




(ii) Some states: presumption of "hostile"

c. Allows “constructive” adverse possession of whole parcel described in document from use of a part (all states)



(i) Without color of title, can only adversely possess what you actually use

(ii) If, e.g., you have an invalid deed giving you all of a 20-acre lot, but you only really use 10 acres, the court can find constructive adverse possession of the rest.
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FLORIDA STATUTES:  LIMITATIONS OF ACTIONS;  
ADVERSE POSSESSION

95.12. Real property actions.  No action to recover real property or its possession shall be maintained unless the person seeking recovery or the person's ancestor, predecessor, or grantor was seized or possessed of the property within 7 years before the commencement of the action.

95.13. Real property actions;  possession by legal owner presumed.  In every action to recover real property or its possession, the person establishing legal title to the property shall be presumed to have been possessed of it within the time prescribed by law.  The occupation of the property by any other person shall be in subordination to the legal title unless the property was possessed adversely to the legal title for 7 years before the commencement of the action.

95.16. Real property actions; adverse possession under color of title.

(1) When the occupant, or those under whom the occupant claims, entered into possession of real property under a claim of title exclusive of any other right, founding the claim on a written instrument as being a conveyance of the property, or on a decree or judgment, and has for 7 years been in continued possession of the property included in the instrument, decree, or judgment, the property is held adversely.  If the property is divided into lots, the possession of one lot shall not be deemed a possession of any other lot of the same tract.  Adverse possession commencing after December 31, 1945, shall not be deemed adverse possession under color of title until the instrument upon which the claim of title is founded is recorded in the office of the clerk of the circuit court of the county where the property is located.

(2) For the purpose of this section, property is deemed possessed in any of the following cases:

(a) When it has been usually cultivated or improved.

(b) When it has been protected by a substantial enclosure.  All land protected by the enclosure must be included within the description of the property in the written instrument, judgment, or decree.  If only a portion of the land protected by the enclosure is included within the description of the property in the written instrument, judgment, or decree, only that portion is deemed possessed.

(c) When, although not enclosed, it has been used for the supply of fuel or fencing timber for husbandry or for the ordinary use of the occupant.

(d) When a known lot or single farm has been partly improved, the part that has not been cleared or enclosed according to the usual custom of the county is to be considered as occupied for the same length of time as the part improved or cultivated.

95.18. Real property actions;  adverse possession without color of title.

(1) When the occupant or those under whom the occupant claims have been in actual continued occupation of real property for 7 years under a claim of title exclusive of any other right, but not founded on a written instrument, judgment, or decree, the property actually occupied shall be held adversely if the person claiming adverse possession made a return of the property by proper legal description to the property appraiser of the county where it is located within 1 year after entering into possession and has subsequently paid all taxes and matured installments of special improvement liens levied against the property by the state, county, and municipality.

(2) For the purpose of this section, property shall be deemed to be possessed in the following cases only:

(a) When it has been protected by substantial enclosure.

(b) When it has been usually cultivated or improved.
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Pennsylvania Statutes of Limitations

42 Penn. Cons. Stat. §5530 

§5530.  Twenty-one year limitation.  

(A) GENERAL RULE.-- The following actions and proceedings must be commenced within 21 years:

   (1) An action for the possession of real property.  …

(B) ENTRY UPON LAND.-- No entry upon real property shall toll the running of the period of limitation specified in subsection (a)(1), unless a possessory action shall be commenced therefor within one year after entry. Such an entry and commencement of a possessory action, without recovery therein, shall not toll the running of such period of limitation in respect of another possessory action, unless such other possessory action is commenced within one year after the termination of the first.
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

3.01.   What do you think are the purposes behind statutes of limitations generally?  Do those purposes apply with equal force to actions for possession of land as they do to actions for personal injury or breach of contract?  Are there other purposes that adverse possession might serve beside those that support statutes of limitations in other contexts?
3.02. Why do states have stricter requirements for adverse possession without color of title?

3.03. In the paradigm cases of adverse possession, adverse possessors claim either an entire lot or a parcel of land that is not contiguous with any other land they own.  However, another common fact pattern involves landowners claiming a strip of land just on the other side of a boundary line dividing their own parcel from a neighbor’s.  For example, one landowner might have landscaped several feet across the boundary line for many years.  Why might states treat these “Boundary Dispute” cases differently from the paradigm cases? 
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VAN VALKENBURGH v. LUTZ
106 N.E.2d 28 (N.Y. 1952)

Prologuea: Shortly after their marriage in 1912, Mary and William Lutz bought at auction two wooded lots in Yonkers, a suburb of New York, taking title in the husband’s name. The lots, numbered 14 and 15, were situated high on a hill above Leroy Avenue, at the time an unimproved “paper” street. To the west was a wooded triangular tract – consisting of lots 19, 20, 21, and 22 – the ownership of which is at issue in this case. … Instead of climbing the steep grade from Leroy Avenue to reach lots 14 and 15, the Lutzes found it easier to cross the triangular tract which they did not own; Lutz cleared a “traveled way” near the northern boundary of the tract to reach Gibson Place on the west.

With the help of his brother Charlie and his wife Mary, William Lutz cleared lots 14 and 15 and built a house for his family on them. The Lutzes also partially cleared the triangular tract and built for Charlie a one-room structure on lot 19. By 1920 the buildings were occupied. In 1921 Mary’s fifth and last child was born to her in the main house.

In 1928, the city graded Leroy Avenue and broke the private water line leading to the main Lutz house. Lutz, who was working in New York City at the time, went home to repair it. As a result, he lost his job; thereafter Lutz stayed home tending a garden on the triangular property, selling vegetables, and doing odd jobs for neighbors. The Lutz children grew up, and all except the youngest son, Eugene,  moved away.

In 1937, Joseph and Marion Van Valkenburgh bought lots west of Gibson Place and built a new home there. Some nine years later, in 1946, bad blood developed between the Lutzes and the Van Valkenburghs. In April of that year, Mary Lutz was annoyed by the presence of the Van Valkenburgh children in her garden, and she called her husband over. The Van Valkenburgh children ran home, Lutz behind them brandishing an iron pipe and crying, “I’ll kill you.”  Van Valkenburgh then appeared and began a heated argument with Lutz. He subsequently swore out a complaint of criminal assault, and Lutz was arrested, jailed, then released on bail.

A year later, in April 1947, the Van Valkenburghs bought lots 19,20, 21, and 22 from the City of Yonkers at a foreclosure sale for nonpayment of taxes; no personal notice of the proceedings was given the Lutzes. The purchase price was $379.50. On the following July 6, Van Valkenburgh, accompanied by two policemen, visited the triangular tract and, in his words, “took possession” of it. He called to Mrs. Lutz to come out of her house and told her that the Lutzes were to clear from the property all buildings that belonged to them. On July 8 the Van Valkenburghs’ attorney sent Lutz a registered letter informing him that the triangular tract was now owned by the Van Valkenburghs and that he should remove any of his property from the land. A few days later Lutz went to see the attorney and told him he wanted proof of the Van Valkenburghs’ ownership and time to harvest his vegetable crop. Then, on July 13, Lutz failed to appear for the trial on the charge of criminal assault, for which he had been arrested a year earlier. A bench warrant was issued, and Lutz was again arrested, jailed, and released on bail. Subsequently he was convicted of criminal assault.

In the meantime Van Valkenburgh had the property surveyed. In response to another letter from the Van Valkenburghs’ attorney, Lutz returned to the attorney’s office on July 21, this time accompanied by his own lawyer. At this meeting Lutz agreed to remove his sheds, junk, and garden within thirty days, but he claimed a prescriptive rightb to use the traveled way to reach his property. Lutz then removed the chicken coops and junk. Shortly thereafter the Van Valkenburghs invited legal action by erecting a fence across the traveled way that Lutz claimed a right to use. Lutz joined battle by bringing an action against the Van Valkenburghs to enjoin them from interfering with his right of way. In the suit Lutz alleged that Marion Van Valkenburghs was the owner of the property, but that Lutz had a right of way over it. In January 1948 the trial court handed down a judgment in Lutz’s favor, awarding him a right of way over the traveled way; this judgment was affirmed in June 1948.

The action in this case was commenced against the Lutzes on April 8, 1948. Perhaps realizing the blunder made in the prior lawsuit (the admission that Marion Van Valkenburgh owned lots 19--22), Lutz fired his Yonkers lawyer and hired one from Wall Street. Not to be outdone, the Van Valkenburghs also sought out and employed a Wall Street firm. In August 1948, William Lutz died, devising all his property to his wife Mary. The Van Valkenburghs’ suit was tried in June 1950. The testimony in the case totaled some 250 pages, and in addition there were 56 exhibits consisting of deeds, surveys, and photographs. Several neighbors who had lived in the area a long time testified for the Lutzes. Not one testified for the Van Valkenburghs, who lost in the trial court and appealed.

DYE, Judge: … To acquire title to real property by adverse possession not founded upon a written instrument, it must be shown by clear and convincing proof that for at least fifteen years (formerly twenty years) there was an 'actual' occupation under a claim of title, for it is only the premises so actually occupied 'and no others' that are deemed to have been held adversely.  Civil Practice Act, §§34, 38, 39.  The essential elements of proof being either that the premises (1) are protected by a substantial inclosure, or are (2) usually cultivated or improved.  Civil Practice Act, §40.c
 
Concededly, there is no proof here that the subject premises were “protected by a substantial inclosure” which leaves for consideration only whether there is evidence showing that the premises were cultivated or improved sufficiently to satisfy the statute.

 
We think not.  The proof concededly fails to show that the cultivation incident to the garden utilized the whole of the premises claimed.  Such lack may not be supplied by inference on the showing that the cultivation of a smaller area, whose boundaries are neither defined nor its location fixed with certainty, “must have been … substantial” as several neighbors were “supplied … with vegetables”.  This introduces an element of speculation and surmise which may not be considered since the statute clearly limits the premises adversely held to those “actually” occupied “and no others,” Civil Practice Act  §39, which we have recently interpreted as requiring definition by clear and positive proof.  


Furthermore, on this record, the proof fails to show that the premises were improved.  According to the proof the small shed or shack (about 5 by 10 1/2 feet) …  was located on the subject premises about 14 feet from the Lutz boundary line. This was built in about the year 1923 and, as Lutz himself testified, he knew at the time it was not on his land and, his wife … also testified to the same effect.

 
The statute requires as an essential element of proof, recognized as fundamental on the concept of adversity since ancient times, that the occupation of premises be “'under a claim of title,” Civil Practice Act §39, in other words, hostile, and when lacking will not operate to bar the legal title, no matter how long the occupation may have continued.  

 
Similarly, the garage encroachment, extending a few inches over the boundary line, fails to supply proof of occupation by improvement.  Lutz himself testified that when he built the garage he had no survey and thought he was getting it on his own property, which certainly falls short of establishing that he did it under a claim of title hostile to the true owner.  The other acts committed by Lutz over the years, such as placing a portable chicken coop on the premises which he moved about, the cutting of brush and some of the trees, and the littering of the property with odds and ends of salvaged building materials, cast‑off items of house furnishings and parts of automobiles which the defendants and their witnesses described as “personal belongings”, “junk”, “rubbish” and “debris”, were acts which under no stretch of the imagination could be deemed an occupation by improvement within the meaning of the statute, and which, of course, are of no avail in establishing adverse possession.

 
We are also persuaded that the defendant's subsequent words and conduct confirms the view that his occupation was not “under a claim of title.”  When the defendant had the opportunity to declare his hostility and assert his rights against the true owner, he voluntarily chose to concede that the plaintiffs’ legal title conferred actual ownership entitling them to the possession of these and other premises in order to provide a basis for establishing defendant's right to an easement by adverse possession the use of a well‑defined 'traveled way' that crossed the said premises.  In that action, William Lutz … chose to litigate the issue of title and possession and, having succeeded in establishing his claim of easement by adverse possession, he may not now disavow the effect of his favorable judgment, or prevent its use as evidence to show his prior intent.  Declarations against interest made by a prescriptive tenant are always available on the issue of his intent. 6 Wigmore on Evidence, §1778. …

 
The judgments should be reversed … and judgment directed to be entered in favor of plaintiff Joseph D. Van Valkenburgh …. 

FULD, Judge (dissenting): … [T]he weight of evidence lies with the determination made by the court at Special Term and affirmed by the Appellate Division.  But whether that is so or not, there can be no doubt whatsoever that the record contains some evidence that the premises here involved were occupied by William Lutz, defendant's late husband, for fifteen years under a claim of title and that, of course, should compel an affirmance.

 
… 
Wild and overgrown when the Lutzes first moved into the neighborhood [in 1912], the property was cleared by defendant's husband and had been, by 1916, the referee found, developed into a truck farm “of substantial size”.  Lutz, together with his children, worked the farm continuously until his death in 1948; indeed, after 1928, he had no other employment.  Each year, a new crop was planted and the harvest of vegetables was sold to neighbors.  Lutz also raised chickens on the premises, and constructed coops or sheds for them. Fruit trees were planted, and timber was cut from that portion of the property not used for the farm.  On one of the lots, Lutz in 1920 built a one‑room dwelling, in which his brother Charles has lived ever since.

 
Although disputing the referee's finding that the dimensions of Lutz's farm were substantial, the court's opinion fails to remark the plentiful evidence in support thereof.  For instance, there is credible testimony in the record that “nearly all” of the property comprised by the four lots was cultivated during the period to which the referee's finding relates.  A survey introduced in evidence indicates the very considerable extent to which the property was cultivated in 1950, and many witnesses testified that the farm was no larger at that time than it had ever been.  There is evidence, moreover, that the cultivated area extended from the “traveled way” on one side of the property to a row of logs and brush placed by Lutz for the express purpose of marking the farm's boundary at the opposite and of the premises.

 
According to defendant's testimony, she and her husband, knowing that they did not have record title to the premises, intended from the first nevertheless to occupy the property as their own.  Bearing this out is the fact that Lutz put down the row of logs and brush, which was over 100 feet in length, to mark the southwestern boundary of his farm; this marker, only roughly approximating the lot lines, extended beyond them into the bed of Gibson Place.  The property was, moreover, known in the neighborhood as “Mr. Lutz's gardens”, and the one‑room dwelling on it as “Charlie's house”; the evidence clearly indicates that people living in the vicinity believed the property to be owned by Lutz.  And it is undisputed that for upwards of thirty‑five years until 1947, when plaintiffs became the record owners no other person ever asserted title to the parcel.

 
… I am at a loss to understand how this court can say that support is lacking for the finding that the premises had been occupied by Lutz under a claim of title.  The referee was fully justified in concluding that the character of Lutz's possession was akin to that of a true owner and indicated, more dramatically and effectively than could words, an intent to claim the property as his own. … That Lutz knew that he did not have the record title to the property a circumstance relied upon by the court is of no consequence, so long as he intended, notwithstanding that fact, to acquire and use the property as his own.  As we stated in Ramapo Mfg. Co. v. Mapes, 110 N.E. 772, 775, “the bona fides of the claim of the occupant is not essential, and it will not excuse the negligence of the owner in forbearing to bring his action until after the time in the statute of limitations shall have run against him to show that the defendant knew all along that he was in the wrong.”

 
Quite obviously, the fact that Lutz alleged in the 1947 easement action twelve years after title had, according to the referee, vested in him through adverse possession that one of the plaintiffs was the owner of three of the lots, simply constituted evidence pointing the other way, to be weighed with the other proof by the courts below.  While it is true that a disclaimer of title by the occupant of property, made before the statutory period has run, indelibly stamps his possession as nonadverse and prevents title from vesting in him, a disclaimer made after the statute has run carries with it totally different legal consequences.  Once title has vested by virtue of adverse possession, it is elementary that it may be divested, not by an oral disclaimer, but only by a transfer complying with the formalities prescribed by law. Hence, an oral acknowledgment of title in another, made after the statutory period is alleged to have run, “'is only evidence tending to show the character of the previous possession.”  Smith v. Vermont Marble Co., 99 Vt. 384, 394.  Here, Official Referee Close, of the opinion that the 1947 admission was made by Lutz under the erroneous advice of his attorney, chose to rest his decision rather on evidence of Lutz's numerous and continual acts of dominion over the property proof of a most persuasive character.  Even if we were to feel that the referee was mistaken in so weighing the evidence, we would be powerless, to change the determination, where, as we have seen, there is some evidence in the record to support his conclusion.

 
In view of the extensive cultivation of the parcel in suit, there is no substance to the argument that the requirements of sections 39 and 40 of the Civil Practice Act were not met.  Under those provisions, only the premises “actually occupied” in the manner prescribed that is, “protected by a substantial inclosure” or “usually cultivated or improved” are deemed to have been held adversely.  The object of the statute, we have recognized, “is that the real owner may, by unequivocal acts of the usurper, have notice of the hostile claim, and be thereby called upon to assert his legal title.” Monnot v. Murphy, 100 N.E. 742, 743. Since the character of the acts sufficient to afford such notice “depends upon the nature and situation of the property and the uses to which it can be applied”, it is settled that the provisions of sections 39 and 40 are to be construed, not in a narrow or technical sense, but with reference to the nature, character, condition, and location of the property under consideration.  

 
Judge Dye considers it significant that the proof “fails to show that the cultivation incident to the garden utilized the whole of the premises claimed.” There surely is no requirement in either statute or decision that proof of adverse possession depends upon cultivation of “the whole” plot or of every foot of the property in question.  And, indeed, the statute which, as noted, reads “usually cultivated or improved” has been construed to mean only that the claimant’s occupation must “consist of acts such as are usual in the ordinary cultivation and improvement of similar lands by thrifty owners.” Ramapo Mfg. Co., supra, 110 N.E. at 776.  The evidence demonstrates that by far the greater part of the four lots was regularly and continuously used for farming, and, that being so, the fact that a portion of the property was not cleared should not affect the claimant's ability to acquire title by adverse possession: any frugal person, owning and occupying lands similar to those here involved, would have permitted, as Lutz did, some of the trees to stand while clearing the bulk of the property in order to provide a source of lumber and other tree products for his usual needs.  The portion of the property held subservient to the part actively cultivated is as much “occupied” as the portion actually tilled.  The nature of the cultivation engaged in by Lutz was more than adequate, as his neighbors' testimony establishes, to give the owner notice of an adverse claim and to delimit the property to which the claim related….  

 
In short, there is ample evidence to sustain the finding that William Lutz actually occupied the property in suit for over fifteen years under a claim of title.  Since, then, title vested in Lutz by 1935, the judgment must be affirmed. … 

Epilogue: Litigation between the Van Valkenburghs and the Lutzes did not end with the principal case. William Lutz’s brother Charlie was mentally incompetent; after the principal case, Eugene was appointed as his guardian. Charlie had not been a party to the prior proceedings, so he was in position to contest them. Through his guardian he brought an action against the Van Valkenburghs to enjoin removal of  “his” house from lot 19. Charlie claimed that he and his brother William had constructed the house over 20 years earlier and that when this house was being constructed he believed he was building it on William’s land. He further claimed that, since 1917, he had been in possession of the house as the tenant of William, the owner, and that he paid rent to William for the house. This lawsuit wound its way up and down the courts until 1968, when the Court of Appeals unanimously ruled for the Van Valkenburghs on the ground that Charlie’s occupation was not under a claim of title. By this time Charlie was well into his eighties.

Eugene Lutz and his wife lived in the Lutz house [at least through 1998]. The traveled way, bounded by a tall chain link fence, and the house [were] guarded by two ferocious dogs, whose menacing bark [warned] strangers away. The Van Valkenburghs are dead. The triangular tract – the subject of this bitter dispute between neighbors – was owned by a church [as of 1998]. 
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ITT RAYONIER, INC. v. BELL

112 Wash.2d 754, 774 P.2d 6 (1989)

PEARSON, Justice.  
ITT Rayonier, Inc. (ITT), plaintiff, instituted this action to quiet title to property situated in Clallam County.  In addition, ITT prayed for damages for trespass and for the ejectment of defendant Arthur Bell.  Bell answered, alleging ITT was not entitled to judgment in its favor by reason of Bell’s adverse possession of the property for a period greater than the statutory period of 10 years.  Additionally, Bell counter‑claimed against ITT praying for judgment quieting title in Bell.  … [T]he trial court entered partial summary judgment, quieting title in favor of ITT.  The Court of Appeals affirmed.  

FACTS:   In 1972, Arthur Bell purchased a houseboat moored near the mouth of the Big River in Swan Bay on Lake Ozette.  The property that is the subject of this action is directly adjacent to that moorage and was purchased by ITT in 1947.  ITT, as owner of record, has paid the property taxes on the land in question continuously since its purchase.  Bell admits that he never purchased any of the property involved in this action.  Additionally, he concedes that he has never maintained any “No Trespassing” signs on the property, nor has he ever denoted any boundary with a fence or any other markers.  A very rough approximation of the amount of land in question is one‑half of an acre.  Bell testified that he regularly occupies his houseboat in the spring, summer, and fall, and visits only occasionally during the winter months.

 
Bell testified that at the time he purchased the houseboat, he believed the adjacent land was owned by the State.  When asked whether it was his understanding that other people could use the property, his response was, “[a]ctually when I‑‑no, not really.  When I was there they‑‑I didn’t think somebody was going to come up and go camping right there.  But I suppose if they tried to, I wouldn’t have said anything to them.”

 
According to further deposition testimony of Bell, at the time he purchased the houseboat it had been moored in the same location since approximately 1962.  The houseboat was moored to the land initially via a cable, and subsequently via a rope tied to two trees.  The record reveals that only the following structures have been situated on the property in question for the full statutory period:  a woodshed that existed prior to Bell’s purchase of the houseboat, a woodshed he began building in 1978, an abandoned sauna that has existed since 1973, and the remains of an outhouse built by Bell in 1972 that has occupied numerous sites on the property.

 
Other than 6 weeks in the summer of 1973, when the houseboat was moored in Boot Bay, approximately 2 miles from the disputed property, the houseboat has at all times been situated adjacent to the property both Bell and ITT presently claim.

 
Bell’s deposition testimony further reveals that he was away from the property during the 1974‑75, 1975‑76, and 1976‑77 school years, while he was teaching school in Nanana, Alaska.  During the first and third winters, he allowed friends to use the houseboat occasionally.  During the 1975‑76 school term, he rented the houseboat for $30 per month.  Bell returned to Lake Ozette each of the three summers, personally occupying his houseboat during those months.

 
Bell’s houseboat is not the only one in the area.  Two families, the Klocks and the Olesens, have co‑owned a houseboat for approximately 20 years that floats adjacent to both Bell’s houseboat and the disputed property.  Mr. Klock, in a sworn affidavit, stated:

When using the houseboat, I and my family have used the adjacent land for the purpose of digging a hole for an outhouse and for other minimal uses.  I do not own the land next to my houseboat but have used it permissively over the last twenty years.  Arthur Bell has never attempted to exclude us from using the property nor has he attempted to claim the property as his own.

In addition, Mr. Olesen swore to an identical statement.

 

Gerald Schaefer, an employee of ITT, stated in his sworn affidavit that ITT owns 383,000 acres in eight counties in Washington State.  Often ITT is absent from its land for long periods of time:

In its normal management of its land, Rayonier often will not visit or use its lands for long periods of time.  After property has been logged and planted, it is common for Rayonier not to visit the property for 15 years, at which point precommercial thinning occurs.  After precommercial thinning, property is often left 30 to 35 years before timber becomes commercial.  It is virtually impossible to patrol all of Rayonier’s lands that are not undergoing logging operations.

ANALYSIS:   The doctrine of adverse possession arose at law, toward the aim of serving specific public policy concerns,

that title to land should not long be in doubt, that society will benefit from someone’s making use of land the owner leaves idle, and that third persons who come to regard the occupant as owner may be protected.

Stoebuck, Adverse Possession in Washington, 35 Wash.L.Rev. 53 (1960).



In order to establish a claim of adverse possession, there must be possession that is:  (1) open and notorious, (2) actual and uninterrupted, (3) exclusive, and (4) hostile.  Chaplin v. Sanders, 676 P.2d 431 (Wash. 1984).  Possession of the property with each of the necessary concurrent elements must exist for the statutorily prescribed period of 10 years.  RCW 4.16.020.  As the presumption of possession is in the holder of legal title, the party claiming to have adversely possessed the property has the burden of establishing the existence of each element.  

Exclusive Possession:  We are asked whether summary judgment against the defendant was proper based on the defendant’s failure to establish his exclusive possession of the disputed property for the statutory period.  Where the facts in an adverse possession case are not in dispute, whether the facts constitute adverse possession is for the court to determine as a matter of law.  

 

Relying upon the deposition testimony of Bell and the affidavits of Klock and Olesen, the trial court held Bell had failed to establish that his possession of the property was exclusive.  The Court of Appeals affirmed, holding Bell’s shared use of the property with the Klocks and Olesens was not possession in the nature one would expect from an owner, and thus the exclusivity requirement had not been met:

While possession of property by a party seeking to establish ownership of it by adverse possession need not be absolutely exclusive, “the possession must be of a type that would be expected of an owner ...”  Bell’s possession of the subject property is not of the type one would expect of an owner.  The intrusion onto the land by Klock and Olesen cannot be said to be merely casual.  The evidence shows that they moored their houseboat near the same property for a longer period than did Bell.  During this period, they used the property in question along with Bell.  Bell’s acquiescence in their use of the land cannot be described to be simply the attitude of a good neighbor.  It shows, rather, that there was a shared occupation of land.  This does not constitute the exclusive use of land necessary for adverse possession and, in our judgment, reasonable persons could not conclude otherwise.



… Nevertheless, by pointing to specific instances of his own use of the property, Bell attempts to establish his exclusive possession.  Unfortunately, such an approach logically fails to negate instances of use by others.  As this court has held, specific instances of property usage merely provide evidence of possession:

Evidence of use is admissible because it is ordinarily an indication of possession.  It is possession that is the ultimate fact to be ascertained. Exclusive dominion over land is the essence of possession, and it can exist in unused land if others have been excluded therefrom.  A fence is the usual means relied upon to exclude strangers and establish the dominion and control characteristic of ownership.

Wood v. Nelson, 358 P.2d 312 (Wash. 1961).



Possession itself is established only if it is of such a character as a true owner would make considering the nature and location of the land in question. As quoted in Wood v. Nelson, supra, use alone does not necessarily constitute possession.  The ultimate test is the exercise of dominion over the land in a manner consistent with actions a true owner would take.  Thus, Bell’s burden was to establish specific acts of use rising to the level of exclusive, legal possession. Unfortunately, while Bell recited certain improvements he had made in the property, he failed to state definitively the length of their existence.  Thus, the record reflects that only a woodshed, a partially built and then abandoned sauna, and an outhouse have existed on the property for the full 10 year statutory period.  As the Court of Appeals correctly held, Bell’s shared and occasional use of the property simply did not rise to the level of exclusive possession indicative of a true owner for the full statutory period. Accordingly, we affirm the Court of Appeals.

Good Faith:  Having affirmed the trial court’s partial summary judgment against Bell, the Court of Appeals nevertheless provided an alternative ground for its decision:

[A]nother element of adverse possession is that the party seeking to acquire title to land by adverse possession must possess the land under a good faith claim of right.  Bell concedes that at no time, prior to the time he claims his possession of the property ripened into title, did he believe that he had title to this property or any claim of right to it....  Holding in this case, as a matter of law, that Bell did not raise a genuine issue of fact on the question of his good faith claim of right to the property is, in our judgment, consistent with Chaplin.

This portion of the Court of Appeals decision is in error.

 

In Chaplin v. Sanders, 676 P.2d 431, this court unanimously held that the adverse possessor’s “subjective belief whether the land possessed is or is not his own and his intent to dispossess or not dispossess another are irrelevant to a finding of hostility.”  In so doing, this court expressly overruled cases dating back to 1896.

 

The Court of Appeals reasoned that the Chaplin decision did not specifically do away with the good faith element of adverse possession, and stated, “the question of whether or not one acts in good faith is a question that can only be answered by making a judgment about the actor’s subjective belief.”  In a footnote, the court noted, “to conclude otherwise ... we would be encouraging ... ‘squatting.’ “  



As stated, the doctrine of adverse possession was formulated at law to protect both those who knowingly appropriated the land of others, and those who honestly held the property in the belief that it was their own.  3 Am.Jur.2d Adverse Possession §142 (1986).  Twenty‑four years before Chaplin, Professor Stoebuck suggested this court should return to the original formulation of the adverse possession doctrine:

Perhaps the reader will agree that the law would have been clearer and in the long run more useful to the people if Washington had never gone into the “subjective intent” business at all....  [T]he common law of England seems to have ... had no such element to adverse possession.  Adverse possession revolves around the character of possession, and it is difficult to see why a man’s secret thoughts should have anything to do with it.  Maybe the idea originated in a confusion of permission or agreement between owner and possessor with unilateral intent in the possessor’s mind.  Whatever the reason, the court could yet perform a service by doing away with any requirement of subjective intent, negative or affirmative.  Since a man cannot by thoughts alone put himself in adverse possession, why should he be able to think himself out of it?

Stoebuck, Adverse Possession in Washington, 35 Wash.L.Rev. 53, 80  (1960).



Today, we reaffirm our commitment to the rule enunciated in Chaplin v. Sanders, supra:

The “hostility/claim of right” element of adverse possession requires only that the claimant treat the land as his own as against the world throughout the statutory period.  The nature of his possession will be determined solely on the basis of the manner in which he treats the property.  His subjective belief regarding his true interest in the land and his intent to dispossess or not dispossess another is irrelevant to this determination.  Under this analysis, permission to occupy the land, given by the true title owner to the claimant or his predecessors in interest, will still operate to negate the element of hostility.  The traditional presumptions still apply to the extent that they are not inconsistent with this ruling.  

Accordingly, good faith no longer constitutes an element of adverse possession.  Thus, we affirm the Court of Appeals on the basis of Bell’s failure to establish exclusive possession, and reverse the Court of Appeals alternative holding that Bell failed to establish a good faith claim to the property.
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The Elements of Adverse Possession 

1.  “Actual Use”

(Nature of the Adverse Possessor’s Activities on the Claimed Land)

A.
Physical possession or entry required


1.  Enough to create a cause of action for trespass


2.  Generally must be substantial & leave physical evidence


3.  FL: need actual entry:  “overt physical acts of possession"

B.
Jurisdictions employ different tests


1.  E.g., “use the way an average owner would use”


2.  E.g., “use ordinary or appropriate for the type of property claimed” 


3.  PA: “depends on the facts of each case and to a large extent on the character of 


the premises”


4.
Some states require cultivation, enclosure, residence or improvements 

(a) CA: Fence or other enclosure must be “substantial and … kept in good 
repair.”

(b) “Improvements” here means constructing something or making large structural repairs, not merely making the lot look better.


5.  Note Washington combines with “uninterrupted.” See Bell supra.
C.  Examples of Insufficient Use from Witkin, Summary of California Law (9th ed.).

1.  Klein v. Caswell (Cal. App. 1948):  “Many weekend/holiday visits for picnics 



and occasional camping not enough for a site where the ordinary use would 



have been to build a cabin.”  

2.  Madson v. Cohn (Cal.  App. 1932): “Visiting an unfenced city lot ‘four to six 



times a year and during one year had planted a few bushes and trees and 



cleaned out weeds.’” 
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

3.04. What evidence of “actual use” is noted in the two opinions in Lutz?  Why did the majority find this evidence insufficient?  Why did the dissent disagree?
3.05. If you read the New York and Florida adverse possession statutes literally, it appears that you could not adversely possess land if you lived in a pre-existing building for the adverse possession period, but did not improve, cultivate, or enclose the land.  Does this result make sense?  How did the court in Ray address this issue?

3.06. What kind of evidence might there have been of “actual use” in East 13th Street?  In Bell?

3.07.  What evidence of “actual use” is noted in the two opinions in Vezey?  Why did the dissent find this evidence insufficient?  Why did the majority remand instead of reversing?  Is the majority’s analysis on this issue consistent with the majority opinion nin Lutz? How might the Alaska court distinguish Lutz?
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REVIEW PROBLEM 3A

(3A) Discuss whether Ariadne has met the actual use requirement for adverse possession in the following scenario:  Ariadne "Nosey" Parker lives next door to a vacant lot. When she first moved into the neighborhood, graffiti covered the stone wall that surrounded the lot on three sides and garbage was strewn across the lot.  Ariadne repainted the walls, cleaned up the garbage, and planted a hedge across the fourth side of the lot.  For the last ten years, the statutory period for adverse possession in the jurisdiction, she has washed off new graffiti, removed garbage from the lot and trimmed the hedge. 
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2.  “Open and Notorious”
(Notice to the Owner of Adverse Possessor’s Activities)

A.
Requires activity sufficient to make owner aware of adverse possessor’s use of contested lot.

1.  Note that this doesn’t mean owner must actually be aware

2.  Common legal distinction:  “Notice” v. “Knowledge”


(a) “Notice”:  Acts such that someone should be aware


(b) “Knowledge”: Person is in fact aware

B.
Tests

1.  Common test:  “Is use by the possessor visible to a person on the surface 
of the possessed land”

2.  FL/PA: conduct sufficient to put a “reasonable person” (PA) or a person “of ordinary prudence” (FL) on notice that his or her land is being held by the claimant as his own

C.
Meeting the tests


1.  Very few kinds of actual use fail these tests



(a) Major Exception:  Marengo Cave described in Note 4 (P114-15)


(b) Only under cover of dark: maybe not 

(c) 1 case: activities on wild, overgrown, little used patch, not visible from highway meets test.  Even casual inspection of property line would reveal encroachment.

2.  Some states also will find this requirement met based on other forms of notice to the community.  For example



(a) Possessor’s reputation as owner



(b) Public records that show possessor owns
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

3.08. Given the purposes of adverse possession, what is the function of the “open and notorious” element?   What evidence was there of the “open and notorious” element in Lutz? In Ray? In Bell?

3.09.  Vezey says that the claimant met this requirement because the record title holders had actual knowledge that she was possessing the parcel in question (P110).  Would she have met the requirement if they had not?
3.10. Why did the use of the caves in Marengo (See Note 4 P114-15) not satisfy this element?  What are the pros and cons of this result?

3.11. Why did the claimants in East 13th Street arguably not satisfy the “open & notorious” element?
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REVIEW PROBLEM 3B

(3B) Discuss whether the growth of the mangroves encroaching onto Leslie’s land in the following scenario meets the “open and notorious” element of adverse possession:   Fresh Mangroves are fast-growing trees, which if left to their natural growth patterns, put down additional roots in an ever-larger area spreading out from their original location. Significant portions of these roots are above the ground.  Leslie and Jennifer own large adjoining plots of land.  Each plot contains a large house, extensive lawns, and many trees and shrubs.  In 1972, knowing of their tendency to spread rapidly, Jennifer planted a line of Fresh Mangroves along the edge of her property adjacent to Leslie’s lot. Neither Leslie nor Jennifer ever trimmed the line of mangroves, but Jennifer regularly watered them and sprayed them with fertilizer and insecticides while standing on her side of the property line.  In 1998, Rene offered to purchase Jennifer’s lot.  A survey revealed that the mangroves had encroached onto Leslie’s property in a strip about fifteen feet wide along the whole property line.  Jennifer now claims the strip by adverse possession.

3.  “Exclusive”
(Lack of Activity by the Owner or the Public on the Claimed Land)

A.
In most states, use by the owner during the period the possessor is trying to meet the statutory requirements means the possessor has to start counting the statute of limitations period again.


1.  Unclear how significant the owner's "use" must be.

2.  One N.Y. case: owner's use of a narrow strip on the property to store construction materials for 3 weeks defeated the possessor's claim.
3.  Miller v. Doheny (Cal. App. 1921): “The original owner owned two adjoining lots, one of which was being adversely possessed.  The house on the adjoining lot had eaves that stuck out over the lot that was being claimed through adverse possession.  The court held that ‘the adverse possessor did not get title to the strip over which the eaves projected; the true owner was never out of possession of that part.’” Witkin, Summary of California Law (9th ed.).
B.
In some states, use of the land by the public in way that suggests a general public right (e.g., as a public beach) defeats individual adverse possession claims

1.  However exclusivity need not be any more absolute than would be expected of an ordinary owner.
2.  E.g., PA: occasional unobserved trespasses by members of public did not mean possession was not exclusive.  

C. “Exclusive” does not mean that only one person can adversely possess.  Two or more people can adversely possess together, and receive some form of joint ownership at the end
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

3.12. Why did the claimant in Bell not satisfy the “exclusive” element?  Is Bell consistent with the discussion of exclusivity in the Nome 2000 case (cited in Vezey at P109).
3.13. For our purposes, treat the sorts of interruptions described in footnote 12 of Vezey (P109) and in Note 10 (P118) as going to “Exclusive” rather than “Continuous.”  Was the possible “interruption” described in footnote 12 by the owner or by the general public?  How did the majority deal with it? What do Vezey and Note 10 suggest about whether the claimants’ use in East 13th  Street was “exclusive”?
3.14. What evidence was there of the “exclusive” element in Lutz?  In Ray? 

3.15. What does §5530(B) of the Pennsylvania statute (S38) do?  What is its purpose?  How does it fit in with the purposes of the “exclusive” element? 
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REVIEW PROBLEMS 3C-3E
(3C) Discuss whether, in the following scenario, John has satisfied the exclusive element of adverse possession regarding all or part of Sun-Acre.  Assume that the relevant statute of limitations is ten years.  In 1992, Ian inadvertently sold Sun-acre at separate times to both John and Kindon, each of whom believes in good faith that he is the owner.  Under the relevant recording statute, Kindon is the legal owner, but he lives out of state and has never visited Sun-acre.  John moved onto Sun-acre on October 1, 1992, and since that date has operated a business growing heather and other decorative plants for resale to nurseries.  


In August 2002, Kindon decided he might like to use Sun-Acre as a horse farm, and hired Genny, who lives near Sun-acre, to help him.  Genny first hired workers to build a half-mile long fence on Sun-Acre just inside the western property line.  When the fence was complete in late September, Genny inspected Sun-Acre for the first time and encountered John and his business.  She failed to make contact with Kindon for several days, so Kindon was unable to file an ejectment action until October 5, 2002.  

John claims to have adversely possessed Sun-Acre on October 1. Kindon’s attorney argues that John’s possession was not exclusive because of the construction of the fence and Genny’s inspection.  John’s attorney argues that the construction of the fence is not sufficient for Kindon to retake the entire farm (a square one-half mile long on each side) and that the inspection by itself was insufficient to toll the statute of limitations.

(3D) Discuss whether, in the following problem, Dolly could defeat Nicole’s Adverse Possession claim by arguing that Nicole has not satisfied the “exclusivity” element:  Early in 1990, Dolly inherited a summer home in the state of Salsburg.  That summer, she visited the property and made extensive plans to renovate the house and landscape the grounds.  However, busy with her very successful law practice, she did not get back to the summer home for several years.  


Due to a surveying error, another family incorrectly believed they had legal title to the same summer home.  In 1992, Nicole purchased the parcel from them in good faith, and subsequently spent every summer there.  

Dolly next visited the summer home one Saturday in October 1999, when Nicole was not present.  Dolly planted tulip and daffodil bulbs in a fifteen foot by two foot strip on the parcel along one edge.  Before she got a chance to use the house or to plant the dahlias she had also brought along, her beeper went off and she had to hurry home.  The flowers she planted came up and bloomed the following spring and every spring thereafter.

Dolly’s next visit to the lot was in the summer of 2007, when she and Nicole discovered their conflicting claims.  Nicole immediately brought a Quiet Title action, claiming she owned the parcel by adverse possession.  The relevant limitations period in Salsburg is 12 years.  
(3E) Discuss whether, in the following scenario, Masha’s walks along the path on Disney-Acre would be sufficient to defeat the “Exclusive” element of Adverse Possession:  A potential adverse possessor has been residing on Disney-Acre, a five-acre wooded residential lot, for twelve years, which is the relevant statute of limitations period.  One year ago, Masha inherited legal title to Disney-Acre.  Masha, the author of the very popular Evil Queen fantasy novels, is painfully shy and strives to avoid contact with her many fans.  Since she inherited Disney-Acre, she sometimes walks her dog Walt on the lot on a path through the woods near the edge of the property line.  She only does this early in the morning or late at night on weekends and she is careful to clean up after Walt.
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4.  “Continuous” (Duration of the Adverse Possessor’s Activities)

A.
Must meet all elements without a significant interruption for the statutory limitations period

1.  Interruption can be either



(a) Lapse by possessor OR



(b) Act by owner that amounts to resumption of possession (see “exclusive”)


2.  What interruptions are significant?



(a) If lapse by possessor, depends on normal use of property



(b) PA: temporary break OK if “not of unreasonable duration”



(c) If interruption by owner, in FL length irrelevant

3.
Note Washington combines with “actual.”  See Bell supra. 
B.
“Tacking”:  adding activities of successive possessors or successive owners to make up whole statutory period


1.  Can “tack” possessors if “privity” (legal connection)



(a) Intestate succession



(b) Grant through a will



(c) Gift or sale


2.  Can “tack” successive owners

3.  Example: Statutory period is seven years. In 1970, Fred begins adverse possession of property owned by Harold.  In 1975, Fred dies, leaving all his rights to Greta, who continues to adversely possess the property.  In 1976, Harold sells the property to Jane.  Assuming all other requirements have been met, in 1977, Greta will get title, even though she has only held the property for 2 years, and has only held against Jane for 1 year.  Fred's possession is tacked onto Greta's and Harold's ownership is tacked onto Jane's.
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

3.16.  What evidence of the “continuous” element was there in Lutz? In Bell? In Vezey?
3.17.  Why did the claimant’s use of the land in Ray satisfy the “continuous” element?  What are the pros and cons of the court’s analysis?  

3.18.  Why did the claimants in East 13th Street not satisfy the “continuous” element? Is the case distinguishable from Ray? What other evidence would have been helpful on this issue?
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REVIEW PROBLEMS 3F-3G
(3F) Discuss whether Monica’s possession of Rossacre meets the “continuous” element of adverse possession in the following scenario:  Monica claims she has adversely possessed Rossacre because she resided in the two-bedroom house on the property with color of title for ten years, which is the relevant statutory period.  However, during the ten-year period in question, Monica’s leg was shattered in a car accident and she was away from the property for five months while she was first in the hospital and then living at her parents’ house undergoing rehabilitation.  During the five months she was being nursed back to health, she had the utilities and mail service stopped.  She gave her friend David a key to the house and asked him to water the plants and feed Alfonso, her pampered cat.  Instead, David took the cat home himself and fed it there.  David did water the plants at the house once every two or three weeks while Monica was away.

(3G) Discuss whether David meets the "continuous" element of adverse possession in the following scenario:  David owns an outdoor amphitheater, which he rents out to theater companies and rock groups.  The events at the amphitheater take place about 30-40 days a year, usually on weekends, and usually in the summer.  A hillside, owned by someone else, overlooks the amphitheater.  For a number of years, equal to the statutory period for adverse possession in his state, whenever there has been an event at the amphitheater, David has instructed his employees to rope off the hillside and place sound and lighting equipment there.  When the event is over, he has them remove it.  No other use is made by anyone of the hillside. 
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5.  “Hostile” or “Adverse” (Lack of Permission from the Owner)

A.  Use with permission of the owner does not constitute adverse possession. 


1.  Owner’s knowledge of possessor not equal to permission

 
2.  Unexplained possession presumed hostile in some states. 


3.  PA: If other elements met, hostility presumed

B.
If possessor has consent at first, must take steps to repudiate permission in order to make adverse possession claim.  (E.g., “Dear Floyd, I know you gave me permission to use your ski cabin but I have decided that I like it a lot and it is too good for you.  Thus, I am taking it for myself.  Love, Emily.).

6.  State of Mind of the Adverse Possessor

A.
Jurisdictions vary as to the state of mind they require of the adverse possessor


1.  Most states:  irrelevant


2.  Some:  Must believe self to be true owner (“good faith”)

3.  Some:  Need to know property is not yours (“bad faith”)
B.
Terminology

1. In most states “adverse” or “hostile” refers to permission from owner and not to possessor’s state of mind

2.  A few states use these terms to refer to state of mind


3.
A few states use “claim of right” to refer to state of mind

(a) Typical definition: possessor must indicate he holds the property against the whole world including the true owner.  



(b) May just mean use is of character owner would make.  



(c) Some states use to mean intent to adversely possess
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

3.19. The Vezey majority said that the claimant in that case “rebutted the presumption of permissive use.”  What does that mean?  What evidence in the case might support that assertion?

3.20. What evidence can you find in the majority opinion in Lutz about the state of mind that the court requires an adverse possessor to have?  
3.21. Why arguments does the Washington Supreme Court provide in support of its position in Bell that state of mind is irrelevant?  What counterarguments can you identify? What state of mind requirement best serves the purposes of adverse possession?
( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( (
7.  OTHER RECURRING ISSUES IN ADVERSE POSSESSION 
A.
Burdens of Proof/Negative Presumptions


1.
Adverse possessors generally disfavored by courts


2.  Some states: Need “clear and convincing” evidence to win 



a. More than “preponderance of evidence” (usual civil case)



b. Less than “beyond a reasonable doubt” (criminal case)


3.
Some states: Any doubts resolved in favor of legal owner 

B.
Payment of Taxes by the Adverse Possessor


1.
Usually required by short statutes, esp. if no color of title (see Fl. & Calif.)


2.
Not part of long statutes


3.
Generally irrelevant if owner also paying taxes

C.
Exceptions 
1. Adverse possession won't run in many states against non-possessory interests (e.g., landlords; holders of future interests)


2.  Adverse possession won't run against the government in most states.

3. If owner is in a category of persons who would have trouble enforcing rights, some states will not allow statute of limitations to run during the "disability" if it exists when the possessor first enters possession. (E.g., underage, insanity, imprisoned, out-of-state, military)
8.  SPECIAL ISSUES REGARDING BOUNDARY DISPUTES

A.  Generally:  Tension Between Two Policy Concerns


1.  Diligent landowners monitor the borders of their lots carefully.


2.  Friendly neighbors do not fuss about small intrusions or resurvey frequently to 


protect their borders

B.  State of Mind

1.  Some jurisdictions have no state of mind requirement, so that an honest mistake can yield adverse possession.

2.  Some jurisdictions with no state of mind requirement in other contexts, require “bad state of mind” (intent to adversely possess) in border disputes.  This is called the Maine Doctrine.

3.  California compromises: “(1) Where there is confusion as to the boundary of land, and the occupancy under mistake is without intention to claim another's land, the intention being to claim only to the true line wherever it may be, the holding is not adverse. (2) But where the possessor intends to claim the area occupied as his own, the holding is adverse despite the fact that the claim is based on mistake.”  Sorenson v. Costa (Cal. 1948).

C.  Open and Notorious:  Some jurisdictions require actual knowledge to meet this requirement in a boundary dispute.
DISCUSSION QUESTION
3.22. As the materials suggests, some states analyze the requirement for state of mind and for open and notorious differently in cases involving boundary disputes.  Why might these differences have developed?  Are they appropriate?
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REVIEW PROBLEM 3H
(3H) The state of Comstock has a 12-year limitations period for adverse possession.  Comstock cases hold that there is no state of mind requirement for adverse possession and define “open and notorious” as “apparent to a reasonable person standing on the surface of the land.”  No Comstock cases address adverse possession in the context of a border dispute.  

The Peterson and Duffy families have owned neighboring five-acre lots in Comstock for many years.  Each family has a large house facing the road on the south end of its respective lot.  The northern portions of the lots are largely wooded and a pond in the woods straddles the property line.  

In 1987, the Petersons planted a vegetable garden north of the pond that was about 30 feet by 30 feet.   Because they accidentally misjudged where the property line crossed the pond, about an 8-foot wide strip of the garden was actually on the Duffys’ land.  Between 1987 and 2006, the Petersons expended considerable labor on the entire vegetable garden through the year, even fertilizing and turning the soil repeatedly during the months when no vegetables were growing.  

In 2006, the Duffys had the property surveyed and discovered that eight feet of the garden was on their side of the property line.  When they were informed of this problem, the Petersons brought a quiet title action in state court, claiming that they had adversely possessed the strip of land.  


After a bench trial, the judge made the following findings of fact:

· The Petersons used the disputed strip like ordinary owners for 19 years.

· The Duffys at no time during that period used the disputed strip in any way.

· A reasonable person standing on the surface of the land would have been able to tell that the Petersons were using it.

· The Duffys never gave the Petersons permission to use the disputed strip.

· Neither the Duffys nor the Petersons knew that the disputed strip was on the Duffys’ side of the property line until the 2006 survey.

The judge, based on these findings and applying the Comstock precedents on adverse possession, held that the Petersons had adversely possessed the disputed strip.

The Comstock Court of Appeals reversed, holding that the rules for border disputes should be different from those used for ordinary adverse possession because there was no need to encourage use of border strips and because the state should not encourage litigation between neighbors.  The court said that Comstock should follow two rules used in other states for border disputes:

(1) To meet the open and notorious requirement, the original owners must have had actual knowledge that their land was being used by someone else.

(2) To meet the state of mind requirement, the adverse possessor must have known the border strip did not belong to him and must have intended to claim it anyway.

The Comstock Supreme Court granted certiorari to determine the appropriate rules in border disputes for (1) the open and notorious requirement and (2) the state of mind requirement. Write drafts of the analysis sections of both a majority opinion and of a shorter dissent for the court determining the appropriate rules for both these requirements in the context of this case.  Assume that the trial judge’s findings of fact are supported by the record and that the Petersons met all the other elements of adverse possession. 
( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( (
DISCUSSION QUESTION

3.23. Suppose the Florida legislature is considering eliminating adverse possession or at least modifying the statute to alter the requirements.  What changes would you advocate? What arguments about the appropriate scope of adverse possession are suggested by the facts of the cases in this section?  What position on adverse possession would an advocate for an environmental advocacy group take?  An advocate for the interests of the homeless?
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REVIEW PROBLEMS 3I-3L
(3I) Discuss the factual and legal research you would need to do in order to advise Carlos regarding the concerns described below.  About three years ago, Carlos Cabrera bought a large farm in the state of Preston, on which he grows cotton, green beans and bell peppers.  Directly east of Carlos’s farm is the Rachel Ross Ranch (RRR).  The two properties are separated by a long fence. Carlos recently got married and he and his wife are building a new house.  Surveys conducted in conjunction with this construction revealed that along several hundred feet of the property line with RRR, the dividing fence is actually on Carlos’s land, about twelve feet west of the true boundary line.  Carlos wants to know if he still owns the land between the fence and the true boundary.
(3J) Discuss the factual and legal research you would need to do in order to advise Ben regarding his concerns described below:  Ben’s Great-Aunt Kylie died a few months ago after spending the last two decades of her life rarely awake in a nursing home suffering from a debilitating illness. James, her family attorney, recently informed Ben that, pursuant to a clause in her will, Ben was now the owner of Prince-Acre, a 30-acre wooded lot on the outskirts of a small city in the foothills of the Misty Mountains. As part of the administration of Kylie’s estate, James had inspected Prince-Acre, which Kylie had received from her husband on his death and apparently had forgotten about entirely.  James reported that a local company has made the following claim to part of Prince-Acre:

Menendez Mining and Manufacturing (MMM) owns a very large parcel of land west of Prince-Acre. MMM has mined underground for gems and semi-precious stones for many years, removing the surrounding rock in the process.  In this way, MMM has created an extensive web of underground mining tunnels, all of which connect to a single opening on the surface its own land.  MMM claims to have adversely possessed a long section of one of these mining tunnels that lies beneath the surface of Prince-Acre.  Assume Ben would have no viable claim for the value of any minerals MMM removed from beneath Prince-Acre.

(3K) Based on the following scenario, discuss whether Major Mercure is likely to succeed in getting title to Northacre and/or Southacre. Assume that she is the legal owner of both parcels from the time of Dent’s death and that she can still contest Dent’s will in 2010. In the state of Sussonneff, the statutory period for adverse possession is ten years. 

  
In 1997, 23-year old David Cheyanne (DC) Dent, the lead singer of the band “Sausage & Mushrooms,” was diagnosed with brain cancer.   DC entered a clinic run by well-known specialist Dr. Angelica Arzhang in the little-known state of Sussonneff.  After several months at the clinic, DC became quite close to Dr. Arzhang.  He would tell her stories about his wild life as a musician on the road and she would talk about her lifelong dream of running a summer camp.  


DC’s only living relative was his aunt, Major Meaghan Mercure, who was stationed at the Fort Norris army base not far from the clinic.  On New Year’s Day 1998, while she was visiting DC, the two had a nasty argument about politics and Major Mercure stormed out.  DC then insisted that he write a will immediately so that his aunt would not get any of his property.  The will was completed the same day and DC died the next day.   His aunt, still angry about their argument, did not attend his funeral.  A few months later, the army deployed her to the Middle East.

At the time he died, DC owned a wooded lot in Sussonneff with some old army barracks on it He had bought the lot because it was next to a factory where Farbotko’s Frozen Foods (FFF) made his favorite frozen pizzas.  DC’s will divided the wooded lot into two parts.  He left the north half containing the old barracks (Northacre) to Dr. Arzhang “for her to live her camp dreams.”  The south half (Southacre), he left to FFF “to help carry on an extra large tradition of great pies.” He left his other assets to well-known charities. 
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In the spring of 1998, Dr. Arzhang cleaned up the old barracks on Northacre and painted them a dark greenish brown so they’d blend in with the woods. She also built a fence along the property line separating Northacre from Southacre.  That summer and every summer since, she has operated a sleep-away camp on Northacre for about 30 girls from mid-June to Mid-August.

Every summer, when camp ends, Dr. Arzhang packs up all her equipment (including the directional signs, the cots and bedding, and the cooking and sports gear) and puts it into an off-site storage facility.  After the equipment is stored, she thoroughly cleans the barracks and the grounds and leaves virtually no trace of the camp. In the late spring, she sets the camp up again, repainting the barracks the same color every third year.


Kevin Kyle is the manager of the FFF factory next to the wooded lot.  Because the woods on Southacre are so beautiful, Kevin mostly has let the surface of Southacre run wild since 1998. He allows members of the public to hike and picnic in the woods, but fewer than 100 people a year actually do this.  Every two months, Kevin has employees survey the lot, pick up any litter, and deal with any dangerous conditions that they find. Once or twice a year, FFF holds events on the lot for its employees, but Kevin has had his staff clean up thoroughly after these events.  

Meanwhile, Kevin’s staff built a huge underground complex that includes space for manufacturing, storage, offices, and a gym and pool for the employees. The complex lies under about 30% of the surface of Southacre.  During its construction, Kevin’s staff tried to disturb the woods on the surface as little as possible.  When the complex was completed in 1999, they restored the affected parts of the woods to essentially their original condition. Since its completion, the complex has been an integral part of the operation of the FFF factory. 

In the years since DC’s death, the U.S. Army sometimes had stationed Major Mercure at Fort Norris and sometimes at various postings in the Middle East.  In January 2010, she was wounded in Afghanistan and was flown to a V.A. Hospital in Sussonneff.  There she met one of the nurses who had witnessed DC’s wil and discovered facts that showed the will to be invalid. 
( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( (
(3L) Discuss, in the following scenario, who owns Longbottom Acres in April 2015.  Assume Nicole is the legal owner of Longbottom Acres from the time of Albus’s death and that she still is able to challenge the validity of Albus’s will in 2015. Longbottom Acres is located in Tediana, a little-known American state, so the Tediana statutes provided at the end of this problem apply where relevant. 

Albus Anthony is the fantastically wealthy and remarkably eccentric CEO of Gringott’s Bank. In 1984, Albus bought a large parcel of land in Tediana called Longbottom Acres.  On it, he built a unique mansion of his own design, full of hidden passages, oddly shaped rooms, and an endless series of small staircases.  He moved in even before it was finished.  
Albus died in December 2002. His will left more than half the estate in charitable gifts. Albus’s favorite relative, Severus Schnably, son of Albus’s half-brother David, received Longbottom Acres and the mansion. Albus’s 18-year old granddaughter Nicole (his intestate heir under Tediana Law) received the considerable sum of money that constituted the remainder of the estate.  Nicole was a little disappointed that she didn’t get the mansion, but she consoled herself by using Albus’s money to attend college in California. She later did legal training in Europe and did not return to Tediana until 2015. 


Severus is a talented magician who performs under the stage name, “The Pensive Prince of Patronus.” As soon as he could, he took possession of Longbottom Acres. Although he had no interest in living in the weird mansion, he redecorated the mansion to turn it into a tourist attraction called “The Ministry of Magic.” With surprisingly little need for reconstruction, he was able to set up a tour through the mansion with a series of mysterious experiences along the way.  The tour culminated in a magic show in which he and some of his friends would perform in a tent on the grounds.  The Ministry opened in 2004, attracted many visitors, and made Severus a lot of money. He advertised the attraction extensively, including posting of large signs at the entrances to Longbottom Acres and along nearby highways.


In September 2008, Severus was invited at the last minute to perform with several other first-rate magicians in a show called “Spell Check” that was touring the world. Impulsively, he decided to go on tour. He simply shut down the Ministry of Magic until he returned, although he did alter the entrance and highway signs to read, “Ministry of Magic Attraction Returning Soon!”  “Spell Check” proved very popular and the tour was extended twice.  Severus did not return to Tediana for more than two years.


Before Severus left, his friend Viktor Voldemort, who had been living with his aging parents, happily agreed (for a small fee) to stay at Longbottom Acres and look after it while Severus was gone. However, Viktor regretted his agreement with Severus after only a few weeks in the spooky old mansion. He missed his mother’s cooking and working on the potter’s wheel in the basement of his parents’ house, so he moved back in with them.  He vowed to himself that he would check on Longbottom Acres every few days, but soon he was doing so no more than twice a month.
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Problem 3L Continued:

In January 2009, Ron Ravensclaw, an underemployed writer who lived near Longbottom Acres, began engaging in recreational activities on the grounds of the mansion.  He set up weekly soccer games there with a group of friends and, in nice weather, he sometimes stayed there overnight in a tent. In August 2010, Viktor happened to notice Ron and his friends playing soccer and threatened to call the police. After that, Viktor began checking on the grounds more often and Ron stopped trespassing. In January 2011, Severus returned and reopened the Ministry of Magic.


In January 2015, Nicole was passing through Tediana while traveling and heard information about the will-signing that proved that the will had been invalid. 

Tediana Civil Code  55.  Statute of Limitations; Adverse Possession 
(A) GENERAL RULE.-- An action for the possession of real property must be commenced within 12 years:

(B) ENTRY UPON LAND.-- No entry upon real property shall toll the running of the period of limitation specified in subsection (A), unless a possessory action shall be commenced therefor within one year after entry. 

(C) ADVERSE POSSESSION UNDER COLOR OF TITLE.

(1) When the occupant, or those under whom the occupant claims, entered into possession of real property under a claim of title exclusive of any other right, founding the claim on a written instrument or on a decree or judgment, and has for 12 years been in continued possession of the property included in the instrument, decree, or judgment, the property is held adversely.  

(2) For the purpose of this subsection, property is deemed possessed in any of the following cases:

(a) When it has been usually cultivated or improved.

(b) When it has been protected by a substantial enclosure.  

(c) When, although not enclosed, it has been used for the supply of fuel or fencing timber for husbandry or for the ordinary use of the occupant.

(d) When a known lot or single farm has been partly improved, the part that has not been cleared or enclosed according to the usual custom of the county is to be considered as occupied for the same length of time as the part improved or cultivated.

(D) ADVERSE POSSESSION WITHOUT COLOR OF TITLE.

(1) When the occupant or those under whom the occupant claims have been in actual continued occupation of real property for 12 years under a claim of title exclusive of any other right, but not founded on a written instrument, judgment, or decree, the property actually occupied shall be held adversely if the person claiming adverse possession has paid all taxes levied against the property by the state, county, and municipality.

(2) For the purpose of this subsection, property shall be deemed to be possessed in the following cases only:

(a) When it has been protected by substantial enclosure.

(b) When it has been usually cultivated or improved.

a  The prologue and epilogue are taken from J. Dukeminier & J. Krier, Property 121-23; 129-30 (4th ed. 1998).  The authors took the information from the record and briefs submitted in this case and in subsequent litigation.


b Prescription differs from adverse possession in terms of the sort of interests acquired. By adverse possession one may acquire the title or ownership, and the exclusive possession, of land formerly belonging to someone else, say X, whereas prescription gives rise to rights of use, such as rights of way and other easements, but title to the land remains in X. In some jurisdictions the elements of the two doctrines are essentially identical, in others not….  [Footnote by Dukeminier & Krier]


c At the time of the Lutz case, N.Y. Civil Practice Act §§34, 38,39, and 40 provided:





§34. An action to recover real property or the possession thereof cannot be maintained by a party other than the people, unless the plaintiff, his ancestor, predecessor or grantor, was seized or possessed of the premises in question within fifteen years before the commencement of the action. 


§38. For the purpose of constituting an adverse possession, by a person claiming a title founded upon a written instrument or a judgment or decree, land is deemed to have been possessed and occupied in either of the following cases:


1. Where it has been usually cultivated or improved.


2. Where it has been protected by a substantial inclosure.


3. Where, although not inclosed, it has been used for the supply of fuel or of fencing timber, either for the purposes of husbandry or for the ordinary use of the occupant.


Where a known farm or single lot has been partly improved, the portion of the farm or lot that has been left not cleared or not inclosed, according to the usual course and custom of the adjoining country, is deemed to have been occupied for the same length of time as the part improved and cultivated.


§39. Where there has been an actual continued occupation of premises under a claim of title, exclusive of any other right, but not founded upon a written instrument or a judgment or decree, the premises so actually occupied, and no others, are deemed to have been held adversely.


§40. For the purpose of constituting an adverse possession by a person claiming title not founded upon a written instrument or a judgment or decree, land is deemed to have been possessed and occupied in either of the following cases, and no others:


1. Where it has been protected by a substantial inclosure.


2. Where it has been usually cultivated or improved.
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